IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC08-541

Lower Tribunal No.: 4D04-3811

LIGGETT GROUP INC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

BEVERLY DAVIS,

Respondent.

_____ /

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

Alvin B. Davis, P.A.
Fla. Bar No. 218073
SQUIRE, SANDERS & DEMPSEY LLP
200 South Biscayne Blvd.
Miami, Florida 33131-2398.
305-577-2835

Counsel for Petitioner, Liggett Group Inc.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In this product liability case, the Court of Appeal for the Fourth District affirmed a judgment against the defendant based on a design defect claim even though the court concluded that the plaintiff had failed to present any evidence that there was anything avoidably wrong with the design of the product. This Court is presented with two questions certified to it by the Court of Appeal pursuant to Rule 9.330(a) of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure:

1. Is a plaintiff required to establish an alternative safer design in order to prevail on a design defect claim for an inherently dangerous product?
2. Should Florida adopt the Restatement (Third) of Torts for design defect cases?

(App. No. 2).

As demonstrated below, Florida decisional law, and the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 402A (1965) which this Court has expressly adopted, require a product liability plaintiff asserting a design defect claim to prove the feasibility of an alternative safer design. This requirement is consistent with the majority rule in other jurisdictions. Because plaintiff failed to adduce evidence of an alternative safer design at trial, the judgment against Liggett on plaintiff's claim for design defect must be reversed. It is unnecessary to reach the question whether to adopt Section 2(b) of the Restatement Third, Torts: Products Liability (1999) ("Restatement (Third)"), which also requires proof of an alternative safer design in design defect cases. However, if the Court believes that adopting that section of

the Restatement (Third) would aid in clarifying Florida law with respect to the alternative safer design requirement, it should do so.

The facts and procedural background of this case are as follows:

A. Proceedings In The Trial Court

Plaintiff, Beverly Davis filed this lawsuit against Liggett Group Inc. (“Liggett”) on April 14, 2004. Davis alleged that she suffered injuries from smoking Chesterfield cigarettes, manufactured by Liggett, from 1951 to 1974. (App. No. 3; App. No. 4).¹

Davis advanced several theories of liability at trial sounding in negligence and strict liability. With respect to negligence, Davis contended that Chesterfield cigarettes were negligently designed, that Liggett negligently failed to warn about the hazards of smoking, that Liggett negligently failed to test its products, and that Liggett was negligent for “continuing to manufacture Chesterfield cigarettes when it became known to Defendant Liggett that such cigarettes posed a significant risk to the health of smokers.” (App. No. 5). With respect to strict liability, Davis alleged that Liggett was strictly liable for design defect and failure to warn. *Id.*²

¹ In 1974, Davis switched to cigarettes manufactured by a non-defendant company. (App. No. 3). Davis smoked until 2001, when she was diagnosed with lung cancer. *Id.* Davis does not claim to be a former member of the class that was decertified in *Engle v. Liggett Group, Inc.*, 945 So. 2d 1246, 1277 (Fla. 2006) (“class consists of all Florida residents fitting the class description as of the trial court’s order dated November 21, 1996”), *cert. denied*, 128 S. Ct. 96 (2007).

² Davis had advanced a fraud claim, which was dismissed at the close of plaintiff’s case. Alan Davis, her husband, also pressed a loss of consortium claim, which was ultimately rejected by the jury.

At trial, however, Davis failed to offer any proof that the Chesterfield cigarettes she smoked were in any way different from, or more dangerous than, other cigarettes on the market. Davis offered the testimony of only two experts, an oncologist, Dr. Rosenfeld, and a pathologist, Dr. Roggli. (App. No. 6; App. No. 7). Neither witness offered any testimony that there was a technologically and commercially feasible alternative safer design for Liggett's cigarettes that would have enabled Davis to avoid her injuries. *Id.* Nor did plaintiff introduce other evidence of an alternative safer design for cigarettes. Rather, plaintiff simply contended in closing argument that instead of making cigarettes, Liggett should have made an entirely different product -- cigars. (App. No. 8). At the close of plaintiff's case, Liggett moved for directed verdict on Davis' strict liability and negligent design defect claims on several grounds, including the failure to adduce evidence of an alternative safer design that would have avoided Davis' injuries. The trial court denied this motion. (App. No. 9).

At the charging conference, Liggett asked the trial court to instruct the jury that, in order to prevail on a defective design claim, plaintiff had to prove that Chesterfield cigarettes were unreasonably dangerous because they failed to perform as safely as an ordinary consumer would expect. (App.10; Rec. Vol. 26, 4603-04.) Liggett also requested that the following alternative safer design instruction be given as part of this test:

To recover under plaintiffs' theory of liability for design defect, you must further determine (1) whether the alleged injuries plaintiff Beverly Davis sustained as a result of the challenged design for the Liggett

Chesterfield cigarettes she smoked would have been avoided, or less severe, had Liggett used a feasible and then available alternative design, (2) whether Beverly Davis would have used the product employing the alternative design instead of the Liggett Chesterfield cigarettes that she did smoke, and (3) that if she had used a product with this alternative design, her injuries would have been avoided.

(App. No. 10; Rec. Vol. 26, 4607; App. No. 11).

Davis opposed Liggett's proposed instructions and instead argued that the court should give an instruction that would allow the jury to find Liggett's product unreasonably dangerous based on either the consumer expectation test (under which a product is unreasonably dangerous if it does not perform as safely as expected by a ordinary consumer) or a risk-utility test (under which a product is unreasonably dangerous if its risk of danger outweighs its benefits). (App. No. 10). With respect to the strict liability design defect claim, the trial court gave the jury instruction proposed by Davis, refusing to give Liggett's proposed instruction on alternative safer design. (App. No. 12; Rec. Vol. 27, 4946; App. No. 5; Rec. Vol. 27, 4937). In contrast, with respect to the negligent design claim, the trial judge included a modified instruction to the jury concerning alternative safer design. (App. No. 12).

The jury returned a verdict in favor of Davis on her purported claims for strict liability design defect and negligence in continuing to manufacture cigarettes. (App. No. 12). The jury found in favor of Liggett on the remaining claims, including the negligent design claim. (App. No. 12). The jury awarded medical expense damages of \$45,000 and non-economic damages of \$500,000 to Davis.

(App. No. 12). The trial court denied Liggett's post-trial motions to set aside the verdict and for a new trial and entered Final Judgment. (Rec. Vol. 28, 5263-64.)

B. The Court Of Appeal Decision

Liggett appealed the verdict to the Court of Appeal for the Fourth District. Liggett argued that the trial court erred in failing to grant Liggett a directed verdict on Davis' design defect claim and in permitting the jury to consider plaintiff's theory that Liggett was negligent in continuing to manufacture cigarettes. Liggett also contended that the conflicting jury instructions on the two design defect claims -- the negligence instruction that included alternative safer design and the strict liability instruction that did not -- constituted error.

The Court of Appeal held that the trial court had erred in allowing plaintiff's claim for negligence in the continued manufacture and sale of cigarettes. *Liggett Group, Inc. v. Davis*, 973 So. 2d 467, 472-74 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007). The court recognized that "continuing to manufacture" was not a proper basis for negligence as Congress had chosen to regulate cigarettes, but not prohibit their sale. *Id.* at 472-73. The court held that Davis' negligence claim would necessitate all manufacturers to refrain from producing cigarettes because all cigarettes pose significant risks to the health of smokers. *Id.* at 472. To allow such a claim would be contrary to Congress' "intent to protect commerce and not to ban tobacco products." *Id.* at 472-73.

As to the design claim, the Court of Appeal "agree[d] that the record was devoid of "evidence of a safer design for cigarettes." *Id.* at 476. While Davis had argued that Liggett should have made cigars instead of cigarettes at trial, Davis

proffered no evidence that she “would have availed herself of that option or that it would have avoided or lessened her injuries.” *Id.* at 474. The court also reasoned that cigars are not an alternative safer design for cigarettes because “[i]t is common knowledge and requires no citation or expert testimony to conclude that cigars are an entirely different product than cigarettes.” *Id.* Moreover, the court held that such argument -- that Liggett should have made cigars instead of cigarettes -- was preempted by federal law because “the federal government’s pronouncement that the continued manufacture of cigarettes is a sanctioned activity precludes application of this theory to cigarettes.” *Id.*

The court nonetheless affirmed the judgment on the design claim because it found that plaintiff was not required to prove an alternative safer design: “[w]e find no case which holds that a plaintiff is *required* to show a safer design in order to prevail on a strict liability design defect claim.” *Id.* at 475 (emphasis in original). Rather, the availability of a safer design, according to the court, was merely “one factor which can be demonstrated and argued to the jury.” *Id.* The court noted that the standard civil jury instruction for a strict liability design defect claim permits a jury to find a product “unreasonably dangerous” either because the product “fails to perform as safely as an ordinary consumer would expect when used as intended” or if “the risk of danger in the design outweighs the benefits.” *Id.* at 477 (citation omitted). The standard instructions do not “include any mention of an alternative design requirement.” *Id.* at 476. The court held that these instructions were “presumptively correct and should be used unless a party shows to the contrary.” *Id.* Accordingly, the court held that the trial court did not

err in failing to instruct the jury that plaintiff was required to prove the existence of an alternative design for cigarettes in order to prevail on a design defect claim. *Id.* at 477.³

C. The Instant Proceedings

Liggett sought rehearing and/or certification of the two questions now before this Court on the ground that these questions raise issues of public importance with respect to Florida design defect law. The Court of Appeal certified the two questions and this Court accepted review. *Liggett Group, Inc. v. Davis*, 978 So. 2d 160 (Fla. 2008).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida law allows a plaintiff to assert a strict liability claim against a product manufacturer for (1) failure to warn (*i.e.*, the manufacturer failed to provide the warnings that would have been provided by a reasonable manufacturer); (2) manufacturing defects (*i.e.*, the product varied from its intended design as a result of some error in the manufacturing process), and (3) design defects (*i.e.*, error in the design of the product). To prove a design defect claim -- the claim at issue on this appeal -- a plaintiff must prove that there was an avoidable flaw in the design of the product and that an alternative safer design was commercially and technologically feasible and would have prevented the plaintiff's

³ While the Court of Appeal acknowledged the conflict between the trial court's negligent design instruction (which included alternative safer design) and the strict liability design defect instruction (which did not), it refused to reverse on that basis.

injuries. Thus, a manufacturer of a product that has no feasible alternative safer design may potentially be held liable on a strict liability claim for manufacturing defect or for failure to warn, but not on a claim for design defect. In short, if the design could not have been made better, the product was not defectively designed.

The requirement of proof of a feasible alternative safer design for a design claim is embodied in Restatement (Second) Torts § 402A, which this Court adopted as the law of Florida in *West v. Caterpillar Tractor Co.*, 336 So. 2d 80 (Fla. 1976). The Court's decision in *West* and the text of Section 402A make clear that, to prove liability, it is not enough to prove that a product is "unreasonably dangerous." Instead, plaintiff must also prove a "defective condition." Florida law mandates that a "defective condition" arises only if the product could have been designed in some alternative way that would have avoided the hazard and prevented plaintiff's injury. A hazard presented by a product must be due to an avoidable "defective condition," as opposed to some intrinsic quality that makes the product dangerous. Following such reasoning, Florida courts do not find a knife manufacturer, for example, strictly liable on a design claim simply because knives are sharp. The plain reading of Section 402A and the alternative safer design requirement is confirmed by the contemporaneous writings of scholars involved in the drafting of the Restatement, as well as the comments to Section 402A. Moreover, the alternative safer design requirement is fully consistent with this Court's prior holdings in design defect cases, Florida model jury instructions, lower court decisions in Florida, and the weight of authority across the country.

Requiring the existence of an alternative safer design for a design defect claim furthers the policies underlying strict liability law. It encourages manufacturers to make their products safer. It constitutes a reasonable balance of the interests of consumers in obtaining compensation for their injuries and the interests of manufacturers in not being insurers of products that could not have been made more safely. Florida courts have made clear that manufacturers should not be insurers for all harm caused by their products. Moreover, the alternative safer design requirement ensures that the decision as to whether certain products are too dangerous to be sold at all will be made by the Legislature, which is best equipped to make such determinations.

Finally, as numerous courts have held, the alternative safer design requirement is independently compelled with respect to cigarettes by the federal law doctrine of conflict preemption. A verdict against a cigarette manufacturer on a design claim in the absence of evidence of an alternative safer design is the equivalent of a finding that cigarettes, which Congress has recognized are legal for sale notwithstanding their inherent dangers, are unreasonably dangerous and should not be sold. Such a finding directly conflicts with the Congressional policy permitting the sale of cigarettes when accompanied by mandatory warnings.

Because an alternative design is an essential element of a strict liability design claim under Florida law, and such a holding is dispositive of this case, the Court need not reach the issue of whether it should adopt Restatement (Third) Torts § 2(b) to govern design defect claims. However, Section 2(b) expressly requires the existence of a feasible alternative safer design. If the Court believes

that adopting the Section is desirable to clarify that proof of an alternative safer design is an element of a strict liability design claim, it should do so.

ARGUMENT

I. PLAINTIFF FAILED TO PROVE A FEASIBLE ALTERNATIVE SAFER DESIGN NECESSARY TO PREVAIL ON HER STRICT LIABILITY DESIGN DEFECT CLAIM

A. Florida Law Demonstrates That An Alternative Safer Design Is A Necessary Element Of The Claim

1. This Court's Decision In *West*, Which Adopts Section 402A Of The Restatement (Second), Makes Clear That An Alternative Safer Design Is Required

This Court adopted Restatement (Second) Torts § 402A to govern the application of strict liability to product manufacturers in *West v. Caterpillar Tractor Co.*, 336 So. 2d 80 (Fla. 1976). Section 402A provides:

One who sells any product in a defective condition unreasonably dangerous to the user or consumer or to his property is subject to liability for physical harm thereby caused to the ultimate consumer, or to his property if

(a) the seller is engaged in the business of selling such a product, and

(b) it is expected to and does reach the user or consumer without substantial change in the condition in which it is sold.

Restatement (Second) Torts § 402A. Although the Court in *West* did not expressly state that a feasible alternative safer design is required for a design defect claim,

the Court's reasoning in *West* and the language of Section 402A lead inexorably to that conclusion.

Section 402A does not permit imposition of liability based merely on a showing that a product is “unreasonably dangerous.” Rather, the Section requires a showing that the product be in a “*defective condition* unreasonably dangerous.” (emphasis added). The only plausible reading of such language is that a product must be “unreasonably dangerous” because of an avoidable “defective condition.” Indeed, applying this language, this Court itself held in *West*:

In order to hold a manufacturer liable on the theory of strict liability in tort, the user must establish the manufacturer's relationship to the product in question, the defect *and* unreasonably dangerous condition of the product, and the existence of the proximate causal relationship between such condition and the user's injuries or damages.

336 So. 2d at 87 (emphasis added).

For strict liability design defect claims, the Court in *West* made clear that plaintiff's injury must arise from a "defect" in the design of the product, not merely risks inherent to a product: “strict liability should be imposed *only* when a product the manufacturer places in the market, knowing that it is to be used without inspection for defects, *proves to have a defect that causes injury* to a human being. *Id.* at 86 (emphases added). The Court in *West* further clarified that ““when the injury is in no way attributable to a *defect*, there is no basis for imposing product liability” *Id.* (emphasis added) (quoting *Royal v. Black & Decker Mfg. Co.*, 205 So. 2d 307, 309 (Fla. 3d DCA 1967)). This holding reflects the longstanding

rule that “[i]t is not contemplated that a manufacturer should be made the insurer for [a]ll physical injuries caused by his products.” *Id.* (quoting *Royal*, 205 So. 2d at 309).

Florida law therefore mandates that a product is in a “defective condition” by reason of its design, only if its design has some *avoidable* flaw. A hazard presented by a product must be due to an *avoidable* “defective condition,” as opposed to some intrinsic quality that makes it dangerous. If there is no avoidable flaw in a product’s design, it defies common sense to call the design of the product “defective.” To demonstrate a defect in a product’s design, a plaintiff must demonstrate that the product could have been designed differently -- *i.e.*, in a manner that would have prevented the plaintiff’s injury. Following such reasoning, Florida law does not, for example, find knife manufacturers strictly liable for design defect merely because knives are sharp. *See Trespalacios v. Valor Corp.*, 486 So. 2d 649, 650 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986) (“one who is injured while using a perfectly made axe or knife would have no right to a strict liability action against the manufacturer because the product that injured him was not defective.” *Id.* (citing *Cassissi v. Maytag Co.*, 396 So. 2d 1140, 1143 (Fla. 1st. DCA 1981)); *see also* cases cited and discussed in Sections I.A.2 and I.A.3, *infra* (applying alternative safer design requirements to numerous Florida design defect cases).⁴

⁴ As noted above, the fact that a product does not have an alternative design and therefore cannot be subject to a design defect claim, has no effect on the availability of otherwise appropriate claims, such as failure to warn or manufacturing defect claims. In this case, plaintiff advanced no claim for

Footnote continued on next page

This conclusion also flows naturally from the definition of the term “defect.” Black’s Law Dictionary defines “defect” generally as “[a]n imperfection or shortcoming” and a “design defect” as:

[a]n imperfection occurring when the seller or distributor could have reduced or avoided a foreseeable risk of harm *by adopting a reasonable alternative design*, and when, as a result of not using the alternative, the product or property is not reasonably safe.

Black’s Law Dictionary at 450 (8th ed. 2004) (emphasis added); *see also, e.g.*, Webster’s Third New International Dictionary at 591 (1986) (defining “defect” as “want or absence of something necessary for completeness”).

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