IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC08-541

Lower Tribunal No. 4D04-3811

LIGGETT GROUP, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

SCOTT DAVIS, ETC.,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ON REVIEW OF A CERTIFIED QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

John Venable Florida Bar Number: 285595 Venable & Venable, P.A. 205 South Hoover Blvd. Suite 206 Tampa, Florida 33609 Telephone: (813) 281-1200

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Florida law does not require proof of an alternative safer design before a product may be found to be defective or unreasonably dangerous. Rather, the potential availability of other safer designs to meet the same need is merely one factor which may be considered under the risk-utility balancing test. Nor is proof of a safer design required under the alternative 'consumer expectations' test which has been applied uniformly by the appellate courts of this State in design defect strict liability cases and as to which alternative test Petitioner Liggett specifically requested the trial court to charge the jury in this case.

As an academic matter, Davis proved the availability of other, safer product designs for the Chesterfield cigarette at issue, including alternative designs utilized by Liggett itself. Liggett's unfiltered, unsurpassed high tar, smooth, manufactured cigarette did not constitute inherently 'good tobacco' under comment (i) to Restatement (Second) of Torts 402A. Accordingly, this Court should either decline to answer the first certified question asking whether a plaintiff in Florida is required to establish an alternative safer design in order to prevail on a design defect strict liability claim for an "inherently dangerous" product, or rephrase the question and hold that a plaintiff is not required to establish an alternative safer

design in order to prevail on a design defect strict liability claim involving manufactured cigarettes in general, or Liggett's Chesterfield cigarettes in particular. Nor should this Court adopt the Restatement (Third) of Torts as the law of the State of Florida. Finally, this Court should clarify that the risk-utility test for strict liability design defect, as well as Davis's negligence claim for Liggett's continued manufacture of Chesterfield cigarettes, were not federally preempted.

ARGUMENT

I. DAVIS MET THE REQUIRED BURDEN OF PROOF ON HER STRICT LIABILITY DESIGN DEFECT CLAIM

The viability of strict liability and negligence claims in cigarette cases is well established in Florida. *See Carter v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp.*, 778 So.2d 932 (Fla. 2000); *Boerner v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp.*, 394 F.3d 594 (8th Cir. 2005); *Laschke v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corporation*, 766 So.2d 1076 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2000); *Tune v. Phillip Morris Inc.*, 766 So.2d 350 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2000); *Phillip Morris USA, Inc. v. Arnitz*, 933 So.2d 693 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2006); *Ferlanti v. Liggett Group, Inc.*, 929 So.2d 1172 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006); *Engle v. Liggett Group, Inc.*, 945 So.2d 1246 (Fla. 2006).

In fact, forty-five years ago, this Court in *Green v. American Tobacco Company*, 154 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1963), held that a cigarette manufacturer could be held strictly liable (under implied warranty) for damages caused by smoking cigarettes even if the manufacturer could not have foreseen the injury to the

smoker. As recently as two years ago, this Court in *Engle*, *supra*, let stand findings in favor of the Engle Class that will have res judicata effect in future trials. Those findings include: that the defendants placed cigarettes on the market that were defective and unreasonably dangerous, and that all of the defendants were negligent. In virtually every cigarette case, the facts and the theories of liability are similar. Carter; Boerner, Ferlanti, Arntiz, Lashke and Tune, supra. The plaintiff/decedent began smoking cigarettes as a teenager and many decades later developed lung disease or cancer. Carter; Boerner; Lashke, Ferlanti, and *Tune, supra.* In almost every case, the plaintiff seeks to impose liability based upon theories of strict liability and negligence. *Id.* These causes of action are routinely submitted to juries for resolution. *Carter; Boerner; Arnitz.* Despite the long history of cigarette litigation in Florida, no Florida appellate court has ever required a plaintiff to prove the existence of a 'safe cigarette design'. Prior to the district court's decision in this case, no Florida cause of action against a cigarette manufacturer has been found to be preempted by federal law.

A. Florida Law Does Not Require Proof Of An Alternative Safer Design Before A Product May Be Found To Be Defective Or Unreasonably Dangerous

In West v. Caterpillar Tractor Co., Inc., 336 So. 2d 80 (Fla. 1976), this Court formally adopted strict liability in tort as expressed in §402A of the Restatement (Second) of Torts. In Ford Motor Co. v. Hill, 404 So. 2d 1049 (Fla. 1981), the Court confirmed that strict liability applies to both product manufacturing and design defects.

To establish liability under §402A, a plaintiff must prove that the product was defective. *West, supra*. A product is defective if it is unreasonably dangerous. *Id.* In a design defect case, a product is unreasonably dangerous and therefore defective if either: (1) it is dangerous to an extent beyond that which would be contemplated by the ordinary consumer who purchases it, with the ordinary knowledge of the community as to its characteristics (the 'consumer expectations' test); or (2) the risk of danger in the product's design outweighs its utility (the 'risk-utility' test). *Cassisi v. Maytag Co.*, 396 So. 2d 1140, 1144-5 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981)(quoting comments (g) and (i) to Restatement (Second) of Torts §402A); *Auburn Machine Works Co., Inc., v. Jones*, 366 So. 2d 1167, 1170 (Fla. 1979).

As the district court correctly observed, no case in Florida holds that a plaintiff is required to prove the existence of an alternative safer design in order to prevail on a strict liability design defect claim. Rather, the potential availability of other, safer designs to meet the same need is merely one of several factors which may be considered under the risk-utility balancing test. *Radiation Technology, Inc. v. Ware,* 445 So. 2d 329, 331 (Fla. 1983); *Auburn, supra* at 1170. In *Ware*, this Court, in rejecting as "largely passé" the classification of certain products as 'inherently dangerous', and which classification the Court explained is "largely of

historical interest which has lost most of its utility with the evolution of products liability law and the adoption of strict liability," plainly stated and held:

The term "unreasonably dangerous" more accurately depicts liability of a manufacturer or supplier in that it *balances* the likelihood and gravity of potential injury against the utility of the product, the availability of other, safer designs to meet the same need, the obviousness of the danger, public knowledge and expectation of the danger, the adequacy of instructions and warnings on safe use, and the ability to eliminate or minimize the danger without seriously impairing the product or making it unduly expensive.

Id. at 331 [emphasis added]. *Accord Auburn*, at 1170 ("In a persuasive article, Dean Wade has enumerated the specific factors that enter into the final *balance* as follows...[listing the above factors]") [emphasis added].

Nor is proof of other, safer designs required under the alternative consumer expectations test which has been applied uniformly by the appellate courts of Florida in design defect strict liability cases. *See Tran v. Toyota Motor Corp.*, 420 F. 3d 1310, 1313 (11th Cir. 2005)(applying Florida law); *Force v. Ford Motor Co.*, 879 So. 2d 103 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004); *McConnell v. Union Carbide Corp.*, 937 So. 2d 148, 150 fn. 2 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006)(involving "intrinsically dangerous" and "unavoidably unsafe" asbestos product); *Falco v. Copeland*, 919 So. 2d 650 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006); *Sta-Rite Inds., Inc. v. Levey*, 909 So. 2d 901, 904 fn. 7 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004)("Because the evidence is sufficient on this issue [failure of the subject product under the risk-utility test], we do not discuss the availability of the alternative so-called 'consumer expectations' test.").

Liggett does not deign to discuss the consumer expectations test on which alternative test Liggett specifically requested the trial court to charge the jury in this case, and which it successfully urged the district court "is the only proper standard for strict liability defective design where the product is an ordinary consumer product like cigarettes ... and one for which consumers have established expectations." *See* (Initial brief at p.34, fn. 19; Record as supplemented by the district court)

B. Liggett's Interpretive And Policy Arguments Are Without Merit

Notwithstanding the foregoing legal authority, Liggett offers a series of interpretive and policy arguments why proof of an alternative safer design should be deemed to be required under Florida law. First, Liggett cites to the Black's Law Dictionary definition of 'design defect' which references alternative safer designs. Davis would merely note that Black's is hardly authority on the law of Florida and does not purport to be. Liggett next argues that a safer alternative design is required because a product cannot be in a defective condition unless the design has some "avoidable flaw". (PB p. 12) According to Liggett, unless the product has an avoidable flaw there is nothing "wrong" with the product. However, Liggett cites no legal authority for this proposition. Instead, Liggett claims that the "avoidable flaw" requirement is a matter of "common sense". The fallacy in Liggett's

argument stems from its refusal to accept that "defective" as used in §402A is a term of art with special significance in strict liability.

As applied in §402A, the requirement of "defect" is used to avoid the manufacturer becoming an insurer of the product. *West, supra*. However, requiring that a product be defective to impose liability does not mean that it has to have an avoidable flaw. All that is required to prove a defect is proof that the product is unreasonably dangerous. Many products found to be unreasonably dangerous do have an avoidable flaw, to be sure. For instance, manufacturing defects occur when there is a mistake in the manufacturing process resulting in a product that is not made according to the product's design. Clearly, in those situations, there is a flaw in the product and there is something wrong with the product that was avoidable.

In design defect cases, there is no flaw in the manufacturing process. The product is exactly what the manufacturer intended to produce. If a product is found to be unreasonably dangerous because a safer design was available, again there is something wrong with the product that was avoidable.

There are, however, products which simply cannot be designed in a manner which makes them 'safe'. Often referred to as "unavoidably" or "inherently" dangerous, these unsafe products can still be found to be defective and liability imposed under §402A. *Auburn supra; Ware supra*. When such a product is found

- 20 -

to be unreasonably dangerous it is because there is something wrong with the product (i.e. the risk associated with the design of the product outweighs its utility or the product is more dangerous than an ordinary consumer would expect given the ordinary state of knowledge of the community as to its characteristics), although the product's inherent "flaw" is unavoidable.

Merely because a dangerous product cannot be designed more safely will not automatically render the manufacturer liable for injuries sustained by the user of the product. *Auburn Machine Works, Co., Inc., supra, Trespalacios v. Valor Corporation of Florida,* 486 So. 2d 649 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986). The test for imposing liability under §402A is the same for all products. *Cassisi v. Maytag Company,* 396 So. 2d 1140 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). In each case the plaintiff has the burden of proving the product to be unreasonably dangerous. In point of fact, the unavailability or unfeasibility of a safer design may make the plaintiff's proof that the product is unreasonably dangerous more difficult and less compelling.

Liggett next cites cases which have either approved or rejected the sufficiency of the plaintiffs' proof of an alternative safer design. Same, however, does not translate to a requirement that such proof be adduced in all cases. Although §402A does not require a plaintiff to prove as part of her *prima facie* case an alternative safer design, when a plaintiff's only allegation of defect concerning a product is the failure to utilize a safer design, then of course the

burden is on the plaintiff to prove that allegation, that is, the availability of the safer design and that employing the design would have made the injury less likely to occur. *See e.g., Husky Industries, Inc., v. Black*, 434 So. 2d 988 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983); *Boerner v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp.*, 394 F. 3d 594 (8th Cir. 2005)("When a plaintiff's sole proof of a defective design is the designer's choice not to pursue a safer design, the evidentiary burden is on the plaintiff to show that the alternative safer design he advocates actually exists.").

In Husky, the plaintiff alleged that charcoal lighter fluid manufactured by Sparky was defective solely because the can did not have a flashback arrester the absence of which allowed the can to explode and the color of the can was black which absorbed heat and contributed to the explosion. The plaintiff further alleged that as a result of these specific defects he was injured when the can exploded after the lighter fluid was sprayed on hot charcoals. Based upon those allegations, the plaintiff's complaint required that he prove that a lighter fluid can with a flashback arrester and/or a lighter colored can would have made the product safer and would have more likely than not avoided the explosion. When the plaintiff was unable to prove the alleged safer alternative design would have prevented the explosion, the Fourth District correctly held that the verdict in favor of the plaintiff had to be That the Fourth District's opinion in Husky does not stand for the reversed. proposition that a plaintiff is always required under §402A to prove a safer

alternative design in a design defect case, as claimed by Liggett, is made obvious by the same court's statement to the contrary in this case:

We find no case which holds that a Plaintiff is **required** to show a safer alternative design in order to prevail on a strict liability design defect case. Rather, it appears to be one factor which can be demonstrated and argued to the jury.

Liggett Group, Inc. v. Davis, 973 So.2d 467 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007)(emphasis the court's).

Liggett next notes that Dean Prosser opined that the drafters of §402A rejected the notion that manufacturers should be "automatically responsible for all the harm" caused by unavoidably dangerous products. (PB p. 13) Davis does not suggest that manufacturers are "automatically responsible" for all the harm caused by unavoidably dangerous products. The law only imposes liability for damages caused by such products if they are found to be defective. As with any product, unavoidably dangerous products are only defectively designed if they are possessed of dangers beyond which an ordinary consumer would expect, or if the risk of danger in their design outweighs their utility. Thus, knives, guns, certain drugs, automobiles, airplanes, etc., though unavoidably dangerous, are not necessarily defective. Nothing said by Dean Prosser supports Liggett's contention that a plaintiff must prove a safer alternative design as a prerequisite to finding a product defectively designed.

Quoting Dean Wade, Liggett next suggests that a product can be defective because of a "poor design". That is undoubtedly true. Liggett then incorrectly makes the leap to claim:

Obviously, a design can be "poor" only in comparison to some better alternative design.

(PB 14) That is not true. A design can be "poor" simply by evaluating the risk of harm the product presents in relation to the benefit obtained, or by evaluating consumers' expectations concerning the safety of the product as designed. Chesterfield cigarettes are a perfect example of such a "poor" design. As designed, Chesterfield cigarettes present a very significant risk to the user without providing corresponding benefits other than satisfying the addiction to nicotine caused by the use of the product. Chesterfields sold before the late 1960's were far more dangerous than the ordinary consumer expected. No one needs to identify a safer design to conclude that Chesterfields were a poor design. Even if no safer design existed, which, as will be shown, it did, the design was still "poor". Liggett has not identified any statement by Dean Wade that supports the proposition that a plaintiff must establish the existence of a safer alternative design in a defective design case. In fact, as this Court pointed out in Auburn, Dean Wade has made clear his belief that a safer design is but one of several factors which may be considered and balanced under the risk-utility test in determining whether or not a product is unreasonably dangerous.

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